1955

# United States of America v. Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

These cases, Civil No. 15462 and Civil No. 15463 in the Fourth Judicial District Court of the State of Utah in and for Utah County, involving identically the same factual situation and propositions of law were consolidated in that court for trial.<sup>1</sup> Those cases are consolidated here as Cases No. 8390 and No. 8391.

---

<sup>1</sup> Reporter's Transcript, page 10, line 28.

## JUDGMENTS BELOW

There were entered judgments on May 27, 1955, in Civil Actions No. 15462 and No. 15463 reversing and setting aside the decision of the State Engineer permitting the change of point of diversion and place of use of rights to the use of water claimed by the United States. From those judgments and the findings of fact and conclusions of law upon which they are predicated, the United States of America appeals to this Honorable Court.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Deer Creek Reservoir, a major component of the Provo River Reclamation Project, is situated on the Provo River. That reservoir has given rise to legal questions, many of which have been propounded to this Honorable Court for resolution.<sup>2</sup> That it is of great importance to the economy of the valley which it serves needs no extended review. Reference is, however, made to the fact that the United States of America has expended large sums of money to divert water from the Weber and Duchesne Rivers to supplement the critically short supply of water in the Provo River Valley.<sup>3</sup> Those waters are impounded in the Deer Creek Reservoir.

A large area in the Provo River Valley has been submerged by the reservoir in question. Title to those inundated lands resides in the United States of

---

<sup>2</sup> *Tanner v. Bacon*, 103 Utah 494, 136 P. 2d 957 (1943); *Lehi Irrigation Company v. Jones*, 115 Utah 136, 202 P. 2d 892 (1949).

<sup>3</sup> *Tanner v. Bacon*, 103 Utah 494, 136 P. 2d 957, 963 (1943).

America.<sup>4</sup> Appurtenant to those lands when acquired by the United States of America were rights to the use of water long exercised to irrigate them. As the rights to the use of water could no longer be utilized upon the lands to which they were appurtenant, it was essential that a change be made by the United States of America of the point of diversion and place of use of the rights in question. As those rights to the use of water were acquired as part of the Provo River Reclamation Project, alluded to above, it was determined that they should be transferred to the lands comprising that project bordering in part upon Utah Lake. To accomplish that change of point of diversion and place of use applications were filed on June 12, 1945, by representatives of the Bureau of Reclamation, Department of the Interior, United States of America.<sup>5</sup> The application to change the point of diversion and place of use, No. a-1902<sup>6</sup> embraced 43.292 cubic feet of water per second in the Provo River. Application No. a-1903 related to 9.20 cubic feet of water per second in the Provo River.

In conformity with the laws of the State of Utah a hearing was duly held respecting the proposed change of point of diversion and place of use of the rights

---

<sup>4</sup> Civil No. 15463, Finding of Fact No. 12; Civil No. 15462, Finding of Fact No. 11.

<sup>5</sup> Appendixes A and B, Orders of State Engineer dated February 28, 1949, re Applications No. a-1902, a-2244 to and including a-2294; Defendant's Exhibit No. 1, Application No. a-1902; Defendant's Exhibit No. 2, Application No. a-1903.

<sup>6</sup> Though Application No. a-1902 included other separate rights to the use of water, reference to No. a-1902 is intended to include all the other rights.



in question.<sup>7</sup> Protests were made by the Respondents here alleging, among other things, that the State Engineer was without authority to grant the changes of point of diversion and place of use by reason of the judgment and decree of the Fourth Judicial District Court of the State of Utah in and for Utah County, Case No. 2888, Civil.<sup>8</sup> It was likewise contended by protestants before the State Engineer that the storage of the yield of the rights to the use of water in question would result in a greater loss of water than the predecessors in interest of the United States had consumed, to the detriment of protestants.<sup>9</sup>

Subsequent to the hearing before the State Engineer, a representative of the Bureau of Reclamation evidenced a willingness to reduce the rights of the United States of America for which the change was sought from 43.292 cubic feet per second to 10.30 cubic feet per second, insofar as Application No. a-1902 was concerned;<sup>10</sup> and to reduce the rights to the use of water involved in Application No. a-1903 from 9.20 cubic feet per second to 1.524 cubic feet per second.<sup>11</sup>

Predicated upon the reduction of the claims of the United States of America which in the aggregate totaled 52.492 cubic feet per second, to approximately 12 cubic

<sup>7</sup> Appendix A; Appendix B.

<sup>8</sup> Appendixes A and B; Decree No. 2888; Defendant's Exhibit No. 9.

<sup>9</sup> Appendixes A and B.

<sup>10</sup> Appendix A. Please refer to Findings of Fact No. 2 et seq. Civil No. 15463.

<sup>11</sup> Appendix B. Please refer to Findings of Fact No. 2 et seq. Civil No. 15462.

feet per second, the State Engineer for the State of Utah, by his orders of February 28, 1949,<sup>12</sup> granted Applications No. a-1902 and a-1903 to change the point of diversion and place of use of the rights to the use of water in question. There were filed by the Respondents, protestants below, on or about the 27th day of April 1949, complaints on appeal,<sup>13</sup> seeking to have reviewed by the Fourth Judicial District Court of the State of Utah in and for Utah County the orders of the State Engineer granting Applications No. a-1902 and No. a-1903 as described above. Those complaints spelled out in great detail questions of law, complex questions of fact and related data. Motions by the United States to dismiss the complaints filed by Respondents were denied. Proceedings were then initiated before this Honorable Court for a writ of prohibition to prevent the trial of the issues set forth in the complaints of Respondents. Emphasized to this Court was the jurisdictional ground that the United States of America had not waived its sovereign immunity from suits of the kind and character set forth in the complaints of Respondents. After a full review of this matter this Court declared, among other things, that, "If all of the defenses against the approval of that application [a-1902 and a-1903] set out in such complaint could be litigated and finally adjudicated in such action, then there would be much force to that [lack of jurisdiction of the trial

---

<sup>12</sup> Appendixes A and B.

<sup>13</sup> Appendix C.

court] argument.”<sup>14</sup> This Honorable Court in that decision defined with great specificity the very limited scope of the proceedings from which this appeal is taken. It declared: “The district court’s judgment in reviewing the engineer’s decision is limited to the issues determinable by the engineer and in general has the same effect as though it were made by him.”<sup>15</sup> This Court then summarized: “Under our holding in this case, such a suit will be necessary regardless of the outcome of this case unless the district court should find that there is no reason to believe that any such change could be effected without impairing rights of others for the approval of such an application would not determine any question except that the United States could proceed to change the diversion place of such waters only to the extent that it can do so without impairing the rights of others.”<sup>16</sup> Respondents sought a rehearing in the words of this Court because “we too narrowly limited the issues which could be determined in such appeal.”<sup>17</sup> In denying that petition this statement was made: “If we are correct in our conclusion that the district court on an appeal from the Engineer’s decision only decides issues which the Engineer could have decided

---

<sup>14</sup> *United States v. District Court of Fourth Judicial Dist. in and for Utah County, et al.*, — Utah —, 238 P. 2d 1132, 1138 (1951).

<sup>15</sup> *Ibid.*, 238 P. 2d 1132, 1136 (1951).

<sup>16</sup> *Ibid.*, 238 P. 2d 1132, 1140 (1951).

<sup>17</sup> *United States v. District Court of Fourth Judicial District in and for Utah County, et al.*, — Utah —, 242 P. 2d 774, 775 (1952).

and that it does not adjudicate any rights except those on which the Engineer's decision is final unless it is set aside, then the district court on this appeal cannot adjudicate the extent or priority of the right of the United States to the use of this water."<sup>18</sup>

In the light of the strict delineation of the jurisdiction of the court below the cases proceeded to trial. At the trial counsel purporting to represent the United States of America undertook to prove that the quantities of water actually consumed by the crops irrigated could be transferred from the flooded lands to the Provo River Reclamation Project without injury to protestants below.<sup>19</sup> Issue was taken by protestants below with that contention thus advanced seeking to prove that more water was lost through impoundment in the Deer Creek Reservoir than was sought to be changed.<sup>20</sup>

Contrary to the express instructions of Mr. J. Lee Rankin, Assistant Attorney General, Mr. E. J. Skeen, Attorney at law for the Bureau of Reclamation, Department of the Interior, appeared for the United States of America in the action and purported to represent it.<sup>21</sup> At the trial and contrary to the express Regulations of the Department of Justice, Mr.

<sup>18</sup> *Ibid.*, 242 P. 2d 774, 777 (1952).

<sup>19</sup> Reporter's Transcript, pages 29-30; Please refer to Finding of Fact No. 12 in Civil No. 15462; Finding of Fact No. 13 in Civil No. 15463.

<sup>20</sup> Please refer to Finding of Fact No. 14 in Civil No. 15463; Finding of Fact No. 13 in Civil No. 15462.

<sup>21</sup> See accompanying affidavit of J. Lee Rankin, Assistant Attorney General, Department of Justice which is marked Appendix D of this brief and by reference incorporated into it.

Skeen purported further to reduce by stipulation the rights to the use of water which are here involved.<sup>22</sup> The rights to the use of water involved in this action have been valued as high as \$50,000 a second foot.<sup>23</sup>

As revealed by the accompanying affidavit<sup>24</sup> the Department of Justice was not informed and had no information regarding the conduct of the trial by Mr. Skeen. The Department of Justice, moreover, had no information as to the basis or justification for the reduction of the approximately 53 cubic feet per second to approximately 9 cubic feet per second.<sup>25</sup> Significantly the trial judge in the court below presented this question:

The COURT. What I can't understand though is that if you purchased fifty-two second feet of water why you don't call for it all, claim it all.<sup>26</sup>

Presented to the Department of Justice was this basic problem: Should it in the light of the record;

---

<sup>22</sup> United States Attorneys' Manual, Title 5, Lands Division, page 2, Stipulations: "In no case shall the United States Attorney or field Attorney enter into an agreed statement of facts or a stipulation to abide the result in another case or any stipulation concluding the substantive rights of the United States without specific authority from the Assistant Attorney General in charge of the Lands Division." Transcript of Record, page 219, disclosing reduction in the rights to the use of water claimed in Application a-1902 from 10.30 second feet to 7.9 second feet, and in Application a-1903 a reduction from 1.524 second feet to 1.43 second feet; for a total of 9.33 second feet.

<sup>23</sup> Reporter's Transcript, page 834, line 16.

<sup>24</sup> Appendix D.

<sup>25</sup> Please refer to Findings of Fact No. 2 et seq. in Civil No. 15462 and Findings of Fact No. 3 et seq. in Civil No. 15463, disclosing reductions in quantities of water claimed.

<sup>26</sup> Reporter's Transcript, page 835, line 7.

the relinquishment of approximately 43 cubic feet per second of water valued at about \$50,000 a second foot; the unauthorized appearance and conduct of the proceedings; ratify the action which was taken. Thus confronted the Department of Justice undertook a comprehensive investigation of the matter to determine the appropriate course to pursue.

At the conclusion of that investigation the United States of America advised the trial court by motion that the Department of Justice "does not now nor has it ever approved or authorized anyone representing the United States of America," to reduce the rights to the use of water claimed by the United States of America and "moves this Honorable Court to enter its order permitting the United States of America to reopen the trial of these actions and amend its pleadings and introduce further proof in support of its applications for all of the waters it believes it is truly entitled to, as evidenced by the original applications with the Engineer of the State of Utah above referred to as numbers A-1902 and A-1903."<sup>27</sup> By a motion dated October 28, 1954, the United States of America moved the court below to remand the matter to the State Engineer.<sup>28</sup> By its minute order dated December 8, 1954, the court below denied the motion of the United States of America to remand the matter to the State Engineer.

---

<sup>27</sup> Motion filed October 20, 1954; Civil Nos. 15462 and 15463; See Suggestion to court dated September 7, 1954.

<sup>28</sup> "Motion Petitioning Court to Remand Case to State Engineer for the Purpose of Amending Applications Nos. A-1902 and A-1903 \* \* \*" dated October 28, 1954.

At a hearing before the court below, held May 12, 1955, for the purpose of considering proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, the authority of counsel to represent the United States of America was, among other things, fully reviewed. Irrespective of the concerted efforts to reopen the matter, the court below nevertheless entered its order of May 27, 1955, overruling the objections of the United States.

On the date last mentioned the court below likewise entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment in each of the consolidated cases. Respecting each of the applications a-1902 and a-1903 filed by the United States of America the court in its Judgments declared:

the decision of the State Engineer of the State of Utah be, and it is, hereby reversed and set aside, and that the said State Engineer be, and he is hereby, ordered and directed to set aside and vacate his previous order \* \* \* and \* \* \* he is hereby ordered and directed to enter an order disallowing and rejecting said application, and each and every part thereof.<sup>29</sup>

As revealed by the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in the cases, the Judgments were based upon two principal factors:

1. The Decree in Civil Action No. 2888 is binding upon the United States of America "and that by virtue thereof none of said waters may be used upon any land other than that then irrigated at the time of the entry of said

---

<sup>29</sup> Identical Judgments were entered in Civil Action No. 15462 which pertains to Application a-1903, and Civil Action No. 15463 which pertains to a-1902.

decree \* \* \* and that any water theretofore appurtenant to the lands inundated by said Deer Creek Reservoir must be permitted to flow down Provo River to satisfy the rights of lower users, including plaintiffs herein.”<sup>30</sup>

2. The evidence is insufficient to authorize or justify the granting of approval of the applications; that by the impounding of water in Deer Creek Reservoir there was a greater loss of water than the quantity which the United States of America seeks to change.<sup>31</sup>

It is from those Judgments in the consolidated cases that the United States of America for itself and the water users on the Provo River Reclamation Project takes this appeal.

**STATEMENT OF POINTS UPON WHICH UNITED STATES OF  
AMERICA RELIES FOR REVERSAL OF JUDGMENT**

**Point Number I**

No official of the United States of America is empowered to relinquish or stipulate away 43 c. f. s. of rights to the use of water in the Provo River valued at approximately \$50,000 a second foot, as was attempted in these cases. It was plain and serious error for the Court below to refuse to re-

<sup>30</sup> Conclusion of Law, Civil No. 15463, No. 3; Judgment paragraphs Nos. 3 and 4; Please refer to Findings of Fact Nos. 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14. Civil No. 15462, Conclusions of Law Nos. 3 and 4; Judgment paragraphs Nos. 3 and 4; Please refer to Findings of Fact Nos. 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14.

<sup>31</sup> Civil No. 15463, Judgment, paragraphs Nos. 2 and 4; Findings of Fact Nos. 13, 14, 15, 16, 17; Conclusions of Law Nos. 2 and 4. Civil No. 15462, Judgment, paragraphs Nos. 2 and 4; Findings of Fact Nos. 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18; Conclusions of Law Nos. 2 and 4.



open the cases as repeatedly requested by the United States of America.

### Point Number II

The Court below in rendering its judgments went far beyond its jurisdiction in these proceedings to change the point of diversion and place of use of rights to the use of water in that it ruled upon questions of law which could not be reviewed in strictly administrative proceedings of the character here involved.

### Point Number III

In attempting to pass upon questions of law, and in seeking to interpret the decree in Civil No. 2888 the Court below violated the express decisions of this Honorable Court which, respecting these proceedings, had specifically limited the jurisdiction of the Court below to "issues determinable by the [State] engineer" who is without power to determine questions of law (*United States v. District Court of Fourth Judicial District in and for Utah County, et al.*, 238 P. 2d 1132, 1136; 242 P. 2d 774).

### Point Number IV

It was plain and serious error for the Court below to deny the applications to change the point of diversion and place of use because respondents failed to sustain their burden of proof.

### Point Number V

Had the Court below jurisdiction to determine questions of law, it committed plain and serious error

in refusing to permit a change of point of diversion and place of use of water from flooded lands to the Provo River reclamation project.

### Point Number VI

The Provo River reclamation project has been deprived of invaluable rights to the use of water by the refusal of the Court below to reopen the cases.

#### ARGUMENT

**Rights to the use of water are interests in real property; the right to change the point of diversion and place of use is likewise an interest in real property**

**Rights to the use of water are interests in real property**

Few tenets of Western law relating to rights to the use of water are more firmly established than that which declares that rights of that character are interests in real property.<sup>32</sup>

This Honorable Court stated in the case last cited: "The terms 'land,' 'real estate,' and 'real property,' include land, tenements, hereditaments, *water rights* \* \* \*." [Emphasis supplied.] Very recently it stated: "The rights to the use of water which are the subject matter of this suit have been characterized by this and other courts as an interest in real property. As we said in *Cortella v. Salt Lake City*, 93 Utah 236, 72 P. 2d 630, the right itself is treated as an incorporeal hereditament and is real property. In *Elliot v. Whitmore*, 10 Utah 238, 37 P. 459, we held that an injunction requiring a defendant in possession to give

---

<sup>32</sup> *Conant v. Deep Creek and Curlew Valley Irr. Co.*, 23 Utah 627, 66 Pac. 188, 189 (1901).

plaintiff part of the water of a stream is in effect a judgment for the delivery of the possession of real property.”<sup>33</sup> Continuing, this Court then pointed out that it had held proceedings involving rights to the use of water “are the same as in an action to determine title to real estate. And a suit to quiet title to water rights is in the nature of an action to quiet title to real estate.” As stated by Wiel; “The right to the flow and use of water, being a right in a natural resource, is real estate.”<sup>34</sup>

Accordingly, it is respectfully submitted, that the consideration of these causes will proceed upon the basis that the rights involved are real estate. Free from doubt likewise is this fact found by the court below: The title resides in the United States of America to those rights to the use of water which are the subject matter of these actions.

**The right to change the point of diversion and place of use of a right to the use of water is a right in real property; an incident to the ownership of rights to the use of water**

At this juncture the United States of America desires respectfully to emphasize the following proposition:

It asserts no powers to change the point of diversion or place of use in a manner that would invade the rights of others. Rights to the use of water are protected by the Constitution against encroachment by the United States

<sup>33</sup> *In Re Bear River Drainage Area, Randolph Land & Livestock Co., et al. v. United States, et al.*, 2 U. 2d 208, 211; 271 P. 2d 846, 848 (1954).

<sup>34</sup> Wiel, *Water Rights in the Western States*, Vol. 1, 3d ed., sec. 283, page 298.

of America.<sup>35</sup> It is on that background that this appeal is taken.

Respecting the right here involved this Honorable Court has declared: "It is a general rule of law that the owner of a right to the use of water may change the place of use so long as the rights of others in such water is not interfered with."<sup>36</sup> Provision is, of course, made for the change of point of diversion and place of use of rights to the use of water.<sup>37</sup> There it is provided that: "Any person entitled to the use of water may change the place of diversion or use and may use the water for other purposes than those for which it was originally appropriated, but no such change shall be made if it impairs any vested right without just compensation."

Thus both this Court and the State statutes accord to the owner the right to make a change of point of diversion and place of use of his rights to the use of water if it is accomplished without damage to others. Reasons for that rule are patent. Illustrative of the need for that privilege are these cases. The lands to which the rights here involved were appurtenant have been flooded. If a change is not permitted the invaluable rights acquired for the benefit of the water users of the Provo River Reclamation Project will be entirely dissipated and their value lost to those water users and the Nation as a whole.

---

<sup>35</sup> *United States v. Gerlach Live Stock Company*, 339 U. S. 725 (1949).

<sup>36</sup> *Gianoulakis v. Sharp*, 71 Utah 528; 267 Pac. 1017, 1019 (1928). Please see cited cases and references in text.

<sup>37</sup> 7 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, Sec. 73-3-3.

Reason for permitting the change of point of diversion and place of use of rights to the use of water has been declared to be that such a right being an interest in property, the owner of it may exercise it as he desires subject only to the limitation that he may not injure the rights of others. This authoritative statement on the subject has been made:

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