Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1956

United States of America v. Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company et al: Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

The Petition for a Rehearing of the United States seems to be based upon three main contentions.

- 1. The United States claims an erroneous construction of Decree 2888, Civil,
- 2. That an unauthorized official of the United States stipulated away valuable rights of the United States, which it did not have a right to do.
- 3. That to allow the United States to change the point of diversion and place of use of 52.492 c.f.s. would not impair the vested rights of plaintiffs and respondents.

1. Was there an erroneous construction of 2888 Civil?

While the United States in its brief in support of a Petition makes the bald assertion that the Court has misinterpreted the provisions of Decree 2888, and infers that the change of point of diversion and place of use of 52.492 c.f.s. of water could be made without impairing vested rights if the decree were properly interpreted, nowhere in their brief can there be found anything other than the unsupported conclusion that neither the Supreme Court nor the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District interpreted the decree right.

Of course, as asserted in the brief of the respondents, it is the respondents' claim that a proper interpretation of the decree would prevent the change of the point of diversion and place of use of all the 52.492 c.f.s.; and assert as the reasons therefor that the decree is res judicata, and that to allow such change would be an impairment of the obligation of contracts. The respondents appealed from the decisions of the State Engineer approving the applications for a change of point of diversion and place of use for approximately 12 c.f.s. of water. The United States did not appeal from such decisions, and should now be barred in this proceeding. Smith v. Sanders, 189 P. 2d 701; United States v. District Court, 238 P. 2d 1132, supra; United States vs. District Court, 242 P. 2d 774, supra. Counsel for the United States alludes on page 16 of their brief to a claimed "vast influx" of water into the Utah Lake area. We cannot understand how any influx of water into the Utah Lake area could in any way be determinative or in any way persuasive in this case. Counsel also refers to "hundreds of thousands of acre-feet of water from foreign watersheds" which are allegedly imported into Provo River Valley, and infers that such water may be made available to the plaintiffs and respondents. Certainly this Court knows that any part of such water which is made available from foreign

watersheds for the plaintiffs and respondents is bought and paid for by the respondents, and speculation that some of such water might get to the respondents through seepage or from any other imaginative source would have no basis in this proceeding. As stated on page 36 in the brief of Amicus Curiae, "Such demonstration could not possibly be of any significance to the hearing before the State Engineer or before the District Court." The District Court, and this Honorable Court, we assert, were correct in holding that Decree 2888 was binding on the United States as well as on the predecessors in interest of the United States; but, of course, the respondents claim that Decree 2888 should not have been limited as it was by this Court.

2. No official of the United States or any other official stipulated away any rights of the United States.

It is hard to believe from the record of the proceedings that went on for five years, that the office of the Attorney General of the United States did not know what was going on. Be that as it may, the applications for change were amended to conform to the theory of the representatives of the United States, and before the District Court, reductions were allowed when from the evidence it appeared that even a lesser amount of water would be saved from loss through evaporation and transpiration. See pages 17 to 21, inclusive, of respondents' brief on the appeal herein. Further, as observed on page 31 of the brief of Amicus Curiae: "There was no surrender of rights, as Messrs' Veeder and Rankin assert. No more was done than to limit the amount of water approval of the change of which was sought by certain applications; and if the Attorney General of the United States can bring himself to do so, he and

I

à

ent

(Pro

Wa

his assistants are still free to claim the remainder." We suppose that there is nothing to prevent the office of the Attorney General, except possibly some administrative procedure, from filing an application to change the point of diversion and place of use of the balance of the water belonging to plaintiffs and respondents. We cannot think, however, that there is any possible theory on which such applications could be granted.

3. Would it impair the vested rights of the plaintiffs and respondents to allow the change of point of diversion and place of use of 52.492 c.f.s. of water, or a part thereof in excess of 9.33 c.f.s.?

How can the United States seriously contend, as they do in their brief, that to deprive the respondents of water in excess of 9.33 c.f.s. would not interfere with the vested rights of respondents?

Even taking Decree 2888 in its interpretation most favorable to the United States to allow the change to the extent of 9.33 c.f.s., certainly to allow the change of the point of diversion or the place of use of any water in excess of 9.33 c.f.s. would without question interfere with vested rights of the respondents. In Civil Case No. 2888, entitled Provo Reservoir Company, a corporation, vs. Provo City, a municipal corporation, et al, in which case the rights to the use of the water of Provo River by the predecessors in interest of the United States were adjudicated, it was established that the predecessors in interest of the respondents had a first and primary right to the waters of the Provo River by reason of prior applications, and that the rights of the predecessors in interest of the United States in Wasatch County were subsequent and inferior to such

rights; but that in order to promote the general interests of the land of the water users in Wasatch and Utah Counties, it was stipulated by all parties concerned, and decreed by the Court, that the Wasatch County interests mentioned might divert water from Provo River to the extent of their needs in accordance with said decree without proration with the respondents and their predecessors in interest, provided that none of the parties, the predecessors in interest of the United States, would at any time use the said water upon any other lands than those irrigated thereby, so as to cause any of the seepage or drainage therefrom to be diverted away from the channel of Provo River.

The Decree, in 2888, supra, based upon the stipulation and relinquishment of the priority of the Utah Valley users in consideration of the agreement that the water in Wasatch Valley would not be used on different lands so as to prevent the seepage from being available to Utah Valley users, provides among other things as follows:

"116. It is further ordered, adjudged, and decreed, that for the purpose of maintaining the volume of flow of Provo River available for use of the parties, and to maintain to the parties hereto the respective rights herein awarded and decreed, none of the parties shall change the place of use of said water so as to cause the seepage or drainage therefrom to be diverted away from the channel of said river, or canals, or from the lands heretofore irrigated thereby."

While respondents assert, and as is further discussed in the respondents' Cross Petition for a Rehearing herein, the decree should be interpreted to include all of the water that was heretofore used on the land now inundated by the Deer Creek Reservoir, including that consumptively used through evaporation and transpiration, the Supreme Court in this case in its decision filed May 1, 1956, Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company, et al, vs. Linke, 296 P. 2d 723, has interpreted the decree to mean that the point of diversion and place of use of only that water which, prior to the building of the Deer Creek Dam, was not consumptively used, could not be changed, and held that applications to change the point of diversion and place of use of the water consumptively used through evaporation and transpiration prior to the building of the Deer Creek Dam sohuld be approved. Judge Wade, in his opinion filed on May 1, 1956, stated:

"The water rights determination (Decree 2888) does not forbid a change in the place of use of such waters. It only forbids such change as will divert the seepage and drainage from such use from the channel of the river or from the lands previously irrigated by such seepage or drainage. It merely expressly limits the right to change the place of use to the same extent as such right is limited by our statutes and by common law of western irrigation. In other words, it simply prohibits such change as will impair the vested rights of others. It deals only with a change which will divert away from the river channel or the lands previously irrigated thereby the seepage and drainage from such use. It does not award to plaintiffs the right to the use of the waters which under the older use would have been completely consumed, but merely that they retain the same right to the use of these waters as they would have had if no change had been made. As previously pointed out, this is exactly the rights which they have under the change caused by the construction of the reservoir."

As Justice Wade has pointed out, to allow a change of

any of the water not consumed by evaporation and transpiration under pre-reservoir conditions to divert away from the channel the seepage and run-off thereof, would be an interference with the vested rights of the respondents as granted under Decree 2888.

CONCLUSION

The respondents have attempted to answer the points asserted by the United States with the statement that they do not believe the petition for a rehearing of the United States has any sound basis for its being granted. The respondents feel, however, that it might be in the best interests of all parties concerned if the Supreme Court answered the claims of the United States by a decision on the points advanced by its counsel, under the facts of the cases as consolidated. The brief of respondents in answer to the brief of the United States in support of its petition for a rehearing, is submitted in an attempt to show that the claims of the United States are without foundation. It is our contention that the applications to change the point of diversion and place of use of any of the water involved herein, including that consumed by evaporation and transpiration, were properly denied by the Fourth District Court and that the United States, by the Utah Supreme Court's direction that the applications be approved to the extent of 9.33 c.f.s. is getting more than it is entitled to. This matter will be more fully covered by the respondent's Cross Petition for a Rehearing and brief in support thereof.

Cross Petition for Rehearing

The plaintiffs and respondents respectfully petition the Supreme Court of the State of Utah to grant a rehearing in this cause for the following reasons:

1. The plaintiffs and respondents are entitled to the use of 52.494 c.f.s. of water for which amount the plaintiffs and their predecessors in interest by stipulation gave up a primary right, prior to the construction of the Deer Creek Reservoir. Such primary right was awarded in Decree 2888 to certain Wasatch County land owners, provided that such water would be used only on certain specified lands in Wasatch County theretofore irrigated by the Wasatch County land owners secondary rights. When it became impossible by the construction of Deer Creek Reservoir to use such water beneficially upon such land, the lower owners are entitled to it.

ARGUMENT

Prior to Decree No. 2888, Civil, in the Fourth Judicial District Court of the State of Utah, sometimes referred to as the Provo River Decree, the plaintiffs, and their predecesors in interest, had a primary right to the use of 52.492 c.f.s. of water involved herein, which primary or first right was awarded under Decree 2888 to the owners of land purchased by the United States Government, upon which to construct the Deer Creek Reservoir. In a stipulation upon which Decree 2888 was based, the plaintiffs, and their predecessors in interest, gave up their primary right to the use of that amount of water with the agreement that such water would be used on no other land; and now because of the construction of the Deer Creek Reservoir, the major

part of such land is inundated and the water cannot be beneficially used to irrigate such land, and such water should be turned down for the use of the lower users.

Had there been no Decree 2888 and no stipulation by the predecessors of the plaintiffs and the predecessors of the United States with respect to the water rights pertinent herein, we take it that the plaintiffs, at the time the Deer Creek Reservoir was constructed, still would have had their primary right to the use of such 52.494 c.f.s. of water. That water would have been running down the channel of Provo River for the use of the lower users. Upon the construction of the Deer Creek Reservoir, the obligation would have been upon the United States to recognize such primary rights and turn such amount of water as involved herein out of the Deer Creek Reservoir for the use of the lower plaintiff users. There would have been no measurable loss of water from evaporation and transpiration. Such loss from evaporation and transpiration only resulted when the primary rights were sacrificed by predecessors of plaintiffs with the understanding and agreement that the place of use of such water would not be changed.

We now strongly maintain that when the United States cannot perform the agreement of their predecessors, and all of such water cannot be beneficially used upon the land involved, it is incumbent upon the United States to put the plaintiffs in the same position they would have been, had not the stipulation and trade been made, and turn such water down the Provo River for the use of the plaintiffs and their stockholders.

We respectfully urge this Court to consider this point upon this petition for a rehearing and urge that a rehearing should be allowed and that the Supreme Court should reverse its decision directing the approval of the applications to the extent of 9.33 c.f.s. of water, and should affirm the decision of the lower court and disapprove the applications Nos. A-1902 and A-1903, in their entirety.